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SUMMARY

The parish of Allhallows lies at the north eastern end of the Hoo Peninsula. Partially
bounded by the river Thames and Yantlet Creek, its landscape is a mixture of higher
ground and low marshland. [t retains a historic settlement, the village of Allhallows, and
a more recent riverside outlier, Allhallows on Sea. Inland the character cf the parish is
predominantly agricultural while leisure and holiday facilities cccupy much of the river
frontage. Evidence of previous military occupation and a railway branch line also survive.
However the impact of industrialisation aleng the Thames and Medway has been largely
indirect, limited mainly to residential expansion. This Historic Area Assessment provides an
overview of the historical development and architectural character of the parish. [t forms
a compenent of the larger Heo Peninsula Histeric Landscape Project.
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PREFACE

The Hoe Peninsula Histeric Landscape Project was undertaken by English Heritage
between 2009 and 2012, The project aims were to inform landscape change at

a strategic level by providing an enhanced evidence base and a better-informed
understanding of the area's rich historic character. To ensure a truly integrated project a
number of different research and recording techniques at the disposal of English Heritage
were deployed. These included aerial survey, analytical earthwork and buildings survey,
historic landscape, seascape and routeway characterisation, farmstead characterisation
and historic area assessment. An integrated narrative report drawing on this full range of
work was produced in 2013 (Carpenter et al, 2013).

Historic area assessment was developed by English Heritage as one of 2 number of
approaches to understanding the historic environment at area scale. Each assessment
aims to explain how the past is encapsulated in today's landscape, to describe its
character and to distinguish its more significant elements. Because resources, timescales
and the nature of areas can vary three levels of assessment have been defined (English
Heritage, 2010). For the Hoo Peninsula Historic Landscape Project it was decided to
undertake historic area assessments cf individual parishes at outline level - that is less-
intensive survey and research to enable coverage of a wider area. The Hoo Peninsula,
east of the ridge of high land at Higham, was assessed by parish. For each parish the
key elements cf its historic development were identified, its architectural interest and
significance was evaluated and its landscape was subdivided into character areas.

The Hoo Peninsula outline historic area assessments were carried out within English
Heritage by members of the Assessment Team South, Heritage Protection Department.
Fieldwork was undertaken during a number of visits to the peninsula between 2010 and
2011, This consisted of external ground photography and site notes. A limited amount
of research was undertaken in the local archives. Extensive use was made of historic
maps, princpally the tithe maps and various Ordnance Survey editions, along with on-
line resources such as census data and historic newspapers, to produce the assessments.
These were written in draft by the team members between 2011 and 2013.
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INTRODUCTION

The parish of Allhallows & lecated at the north-east extiemity of the Hoo Peninsula,
separated fram the ke of Grain by theYantket Creek and Bounded te the narth by the
e Thames [Fig. 1. Fram higher ground in the centre and north of the parsh, part of
the pently und obating uplang coastal phin that beects the peainsula, the bnd drops ey
b exchizngive marshes an the east and 2 mairshlnd fringe o the narth west. The w61l & chy

with a subsoil of chy and haavy gravel,

Sparsel popubted until the mid 200 century the pargh today & comprised of 2 number
of disperased farmeteads and two conjoined arsas of settlement The histaric village of
Allhallws is centially stuated an higher ground with a iverside cuther ki sinse the
1930 as A llhalkews on Sea, Creeping bte-20% century development has effectively j@ined
the two to create a single exdended village. Adjoiming the to the narth & an edensme

rverside hobday park
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The village at Allhallows retains scmething of the isolated character remarked upon by
commentators from at least the 8" century. Agriculture remains a significant activity,
although not as a source of employment for the villagers. Historically this followed the
usual pattern of peninsula, a combination of marshland grazing and arable farming with
farmsteads situated beth on the upland and in the marshes. Unlike cther areas in Hoo
the potential for any industrial activity other than farming and fishing seems never to have
been explered.

Residential expansion began in the 1930s at Allhallows con Sea, the consequence of a
commercial venture to establish a seaside resort which included the opening of branch
railway line here in 1932. The holiday park also has its origins in the same enterprise,
intended to exploit the sloping riverside ground and impressive views across the Thames.
The park was revived and expanded in the post-war years, initially while under local
authority cwnership.

A significant increase in housing in the post-war years was prompted by industrial
expansion on the Isle of Grain, which also led to an unsuccessful attempt to develop a
new town at Allhallows in 1955-6.The scale and pace of development has decreased
since the 1980s. Late-20"-century growth includes an estate of residential static caravans
occupying the site of part of the former railway line, which closed in 1961,

Although the vast majority of the buildings in the parish are of modern construction,
some older structures remain in the village and outlying farmsteads. There are also
notable remnants of a past military presence, including a fort of the 1860s at Allhallows
on Sea. Architectural interest exists, therefore, in these structures, as well as the remnants
of the 1930s holiday resort. The story of Allhallows' development in the 20" century has
often been one of unrealised, or partially achieved, ambitions, but conversely this has also
allowed the village to remain relatively constrained and for a sense of its separateness to
endure.

© ENGLISH HERITAGE 4 I1-2014



HISTORICAL DEVELOPMENT

settlement and topography

The arby hietary of Allhallws has not
been closehy studied. As alsewhens on
Hoo, the settlement pattern was ane

of the chunch acting s an eodesmstizal
feozus fior 0 nepcus of scattered farmes and
digpersed hamlets' (Fig. 2.2 The vilbge
was sometimes known s Hoo Adlballows
= 'Hoo' indicated s upbnd location
wrhike ‘Adlhalks” was derived friom the
dedication of the parsh chunch o All
Saints [halleer being an abernatiog woord
feor mairt). The earhast fab e of the chunch
has been dated to the |2% century but
the building iy have an aker higtary?
By the 3% 2 separate parish at Allhalloses
was i exstenee, There was a Manor

af Yind hill, wehich sorviees only 25 a
plaenarme, Windhill Green, to the west

Fgwe 2 Doton! of the Alfiollaws Area from A
Man of the Hundieds of Hoo and Chattarn
and Gitrigharn, (Y8

of the willipe, o farm at Awery [praviouoshy

Bvare or Bvery nowe subsumed within Allhallows an 5ed) to the north and @ farm at
Binney, tor the eastd A substantial house, known 25 Allhalkeas Flee, stood to the north
of the church by the 4% century, apparently surviving until the first quarter of the 19
century® A koge closter of buik ings grew up around a farm at Skbogh ar Slow, 1o the
weest of Savery, cened or cocopied by John Skew at the Beginning of the 16th century?
The vilbage contamed seneral farmeteads, of which itthe trace now survives, and 2 number
of ather cutlying farme were seatterad across the parsh, incloding the surviing farm sibes
at Dagenbam Eometimes spelt Dagnhamy, Brick Houose Farm, Mord Farm and Mew Hall
Farin, the ktter possibly on the ste of 2 moated manar house

Clnice the northern and eastern marshaes had been reckimed, the Bbnd at Adlka o
wionld have prowded valuable fattening groond for sheep and cattle. The process of
rechmation may have been started by the Bomans or Saexons and was still continuing in
the B ceatury? From the e medieval period the prosdmity of Leondan weuld hawe
encouraged the fiming of wheat, barley and peas an the opland. And from the [T
century the naval station at Chatharm, and bber that at Sheemeass, would have reguired
sufrphes. These groang markets may have aontributed to o perod of nebiee prospe ety
i the 8% century, 25 surviving Geargian farmbowses at Dagenham and Brick House
Farm and ekewhenz in the Hoo peninsul woold seemto indicate. These farms usoa by
enonmpased arabke land, meadow and marshind, often a mecture of reclimed fresh’
iriish a5 well 25 saltmarsh ® Ageicultural improseiments in the mid-to-late 19% century,
such a5 those introdoced by Henry Pye at 5t Mary Hoo and Stoke, would have increased
productivity. By the mid 209 century the farmband at Allhalloss was rated as being of the
highest agricoltural value; twe-ciop land' in intenshe cultivation.!
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By the early modern period a modest fishing industry existed at Avery.® At one time the
Tantlet had been navigable, providing a convenient short cut between the Thames and
the Medway, but by the early 19" century a causeway had been built across its southern
end!? The creek itself has proved to be a rather mutable boundary ta the parish, as its
mouth has shifted eastwards, indicated by a map of 1616 and the tithe map of 18391
The causeway across the Yantlet and movement in the channels across the mudflats
may have been factors in the failure to exploit the deposits of brickearth and cement
clay at Dagenham Farm and Binney Farm, advertised during the |9 century® The
remoteness of Avery, and its praximity to the Thames and the Yantlet Creek, provided
ideal conditions for smuggling, This led to the establishment of a coastguard station here,
presumably occupying a moored hulk an the riverside. This was swept away in [8¥/

and the station was re-established in Avery, presumably in the building now known

as Coastguard Cottage, to the north of Avery House, which also housed a port signal
station (see below).'® Despite the presence of the coastguards Avery remained a rather
lawdess place, induding a regular prize fighting pitch in 1860.7

When the parish of Allhallows was surveyed for the Tithe Commission in 1839 its
population was around 268" The village comprised little more than a group of
farmsteads, a public house, former poorhouse, vicarage and church (Fig. 3). [t was
connected by road to Stoke to the south, and 5t Mary Hoo to the west, the two roads
meeting just to the north of the village at 'Ryefield Corner’. Small clusters of cottages,
presumably occupied by farm workers, were scattered around the parish. Parker's
Cottages, to the west of the village, and an extremely modest development of five
cottages at Nord Caorner, to the south, are likely to have built in the early 9% century
{the latter was subsequently provided with
H A 5 allotments).” But if the village experienced
' little change in the latter part of the [9%™

century - a new “icarage was built to the
e south and the former poorhouse began

functioning as a post office — significant
W la S developments were occurring an the
i gn 7| riverside land of the parish.®

{3 A lEaliows

Figure 3 Alfhalows villoge: ©S rmap published
1896-8. © and database nght Crown coparight
and Landrark information Group Led (Al nghts
reserved 2013} Licence numbers 000394 and
TPO0Z4

A military presence

In 1861 land at Slough was acquired for the construction of a fort as part of the major
programme of new work initiated by the [85% Royal Commission on the Defences of the
I nited Kingdom. The fortification as Slough linked the Medway defences, induding Grain
Fort, with new Thames side forts, such as those at Cliffe, Sharnemead and East Tilbury.
Built an the higher ground above the Thames fareshore, with sweeping views across the

@ ERGLEH HERITAGE 6 I1-1014



estuary, Slough Fortwas completed in 1867 It contained seven gun casemates, reflecting
a new emphasis on 'massive firepower and less on elaborate defence'?' Innovations

in warfare necessitated the construction of two new wing, or flanking, batteries
between [88Y and 189122 These housed faster-firing, less-conspicuous guns behind

low emplacements, able to 'pop-up' when fired, and were provided with underground
magazines. A Battery Command Post was added to the fort in World “War |, which
remained in use until it was closed in 19204

Another component of the defensive system at Slough was the Thames Port War

Signal Station. This was housed by the early 20" century in a building know today as
Coastguards Cottage (Fgs 4 & 2¥). [ts purpose was to communicate with shipping
entering and leaving the Thames via a wireless telegraph and visual signalling, Developed
by the Admiralty at the end of the [9th
- century and operated by coastguards
=i {also then under Admiralty control),
the station ensured that no hostile or
e suspect shipping could pass the guns
at Slough Fort unchallenged ®

-

Figure 4 The settlerment at Avery
ornitting Fort Slough: CS rmap published
908, @ and database nght Crown
copyright and Landrmark inforrnation
Group Led (All nghts resenved 2013}
Licence numbers 000394 and TPO024

Allhallows on Sea

Auvery and Slough were also the focus of the next significant development to affect
the parish, the attempt to establish a seaside resort and ‘all-the-year round residential
Tawn, similar to Westcliff' (@ suburb of Southend on Sea) in the 1930s%  An informal,
appaortunistic resort had already started to emerge at Bell's Hard, or Lower Slough,
where a sandy beach was attracting day trippers in the 12205 and some basic facilities
were provided by a local farmer®® Around 1929 a new attraction opened, when
liontamer Bill Cargill opened a zoo in Slough Fort® The following year Kent Coast
Cevelopment Co. acquired |,600 acres of land and Thames foreshore and began
planning a new development, which they christened Allhallows on Sea (Fig. 3). Money
was spent providing services such as drainage and sewage and roads (principally fvery
Way), as well as constructing groynes to encourage the accumulation of sand for beaches.
The Southern Railway Company was approached to build a branch line from Stoke
Junction, Kent Coast Development Co. provided the land and £20,000. This opened in
193228 A public house and hotel, The British Pilot, was built opposite the station along
with a nearby block of flats, Avery Court, A related company, Allhallows-on-5ea Estate

@ ERGLEH HERITAGE 7 I1-1014



Ltd, promoted residental developmant, which included 2 cul-de-sac of semi-detachad
howses an Quesnsway, off Ay Wy The aspiration was for high-chss houses' an

the knd to the west of the by while that to east was o hooses of 3 sraller
degres'® The rverside bnd, which included Slough Fort, was sot aside for pleasure
grounds, Gardens, tennis couts and swamiming baths wene proposed but anky 2 maodest
amusement park with 2 minatore raiksay ling was boik

The struggling resort was marketed in the postaar years 25 Allhalowes-on-5ea, s
Berwritehing, for keeure and plasune by road ar rail’ before ks acquetion in 1958 by
Stroend Rural District Council for £25 0003 Their intention was to develop it 25 2
recreation and haliday centre B the region® Considerable maney was spent an
imipreweing the facilties, including constroction of 2 seimiming poal and restaorant, The
Mo, which opened in 1965 (Fig. &) A site weas offerad o Allhalows Yacht Clob in 1964,
e wehich they built 2 club hoose and 2 boat compound ® I the 1960 and |970s cromeds
of 25 Q00 visited during sumimer weakends, and the entivg venture was supported by the
rents fram 300 chakets and 850 caravan spaces® In 1981 thie unuswl municipal venture
ended whean the holday estate was sold to 2 praate company, Bourne Lesune, despiie
eansiderabl appesition®® Bourne Leture have continued o enbirge the estate, now
kncvarn 25 Allhallwars Lesure Park, and have constrocted g new clubhouse and sacimming
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Post-war housing

DCrespite the resort initiative, residential development in Allhallows has predominantly
been a post-war phenomenon, as a population of 369 in 1931 has grown to 1,649 in
2001.% The demand was initially driven by industrial expansion on the lsle of Grain

and at Kingsnarth. By the 19505 some employees at the Kent Qil Refinery were having
to travel considerable distances to work because of a housing shortage on the Hoo
Peninsula, despite the construction of 300 houses by Strood Rural District Council ¥

In 1935 British Petroleum approached the Dolphin Development and Management
Company Limited {(a subsidiary of the building and civil engineering contractors, Richard
Costain Limited) to prepare a housing scheme.® Dolphin engaged the services of W,
Eric Adams (former managing director of Harlow MNew Town) and Frederick Gibberd
{Master Planner of Harlow MNew Town) to develop a scheme for a new town at
Allhallows intended to serve more that just the needs of the Grain employees.® They
proposed three residential 'neighbourhoods' with a town centre containing shops, social
and recreational facilities, for an intended population of 25,000 (Fig. 71* This was
apposed by Kent County Coundl, which objected to the loss of 900 acres of high quality
agricultural land, while Strood Council wanted a smaller scheme for between 10,000 to
12,0004 After Kent County Council refused consent a public enguiry was held in 1256
but the Minister of Housing and Local Government dismissed the appeal by Daolphin®
One consequence of the failure of this ‘private enterprise new town' was to spread the
required residential expansion around the eastern villages of the Hoo Peninsula.
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Figure 7 The proposed Althallows New Town {und Kent Cif Refinery, lsle of Grain).
(Reproduced with perrmission from Adarms, £ 1957 A phivate enterpnse New Town’
Town Planning Review 28, 4, fig 2, 185)
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CHARACTER AREAS

Allhallows parsh can be subd vided broadbe into three aneas of d ffering character. The
majority of the pareh remains farmbiand, along with a large area of marshland on it
eastern sde, retaining @ numiber of scattered farmsteads and agricultural boildings. The
entended vilbige of Adlbalkorecs and Adlbalkorees on Sea farms one anea wehile the holiday
parkand reerside area, which has ity cwen distinet character, another,

o . S S —
-"— 1

-
P

—————T - |
I 1
| |
|
|
I .
|
| i
| L
| ||
' | ST by __'_,.,r""'_-""
\ : W e
: =
. | i
N AlTha Heows W s
p * e
.‘Ii
X i,
'l‘ ALEHALLOWIE TP N
1 G )
L SR o I g
i e i e
""1'. ,f" ISLE-OF GRAIN
FET ;
. Gobt brrents ) iy . t‘r
] rueshindendfembng | .8 q_‘_-““'*»._'__'_,-_d- e
D Rasrsick Legume Padk o _F__,_d-ﬂ"" ¥ B
== fdmnchatveboondey [0 el : : Pl
Esese |

Feure B Chameher arens of the lse of Sam. Badkground mapping ©Cmown comnright and
databose gt 205 AN righits nesanned. Diclarce Suseey Licence nornber 000 Y00

Farmland and marshland

Muoch of lad in Allhalkvss pacish remains in agricultural use, scattened with mainke
iid-to-late 20% century agncubural buildings. Evidence of the historical importanae of
farming in the pareh remains in the frm of scattered farmsteads, although not all remain
inagricultural use. A number of hitare farmbouses survive, includ ing handzoeme |5t
century brick examplks at Dagenbam Farm and Brick Houose Farm (lsted grade 1) (Fig.
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9. The latter also retains a barn of
the late |/ or early |8 century
{listed grade Il). Nord Farm, in the
saouth east of the parish, was in
existence by the early |2th century,
if nat earlier, but survives only as a
collection agricultural sheds. Mare
generally the late-20™ century trend
towards amalgamation of farms in
has resulted in the conversion, under
use or clearance of farm buildings
across the parish. Anather [oss has
been the groups of farmworkers
cottages that once existed at Avery,
Lower and Upper Slough, and
dotted along the roads to Stoke and
5t Mary Hoo, although a one pair of
19305 houses, MNord Farm Cottages,
survive an Stoke Road One group
of out buildings on Mew Hall Farm
Lane apparently includes an early
20t century portable military
structure, presumably salvaged from
ane of the many military sites an
the peninsula. The marshes that
ance formed valuable grazing lands
now seem to be utilised mainly far
leisure activities. An area of saltings
remains on the north-west edge of
the parish.

Settlement: the ‘extended’ village

BE

figure ¢ Dagenharn Fanm and Bhidkhouse farme G5
rmap published 1908 @ and database nght Crown
copwnght and Landmark infornation Group Led (Al
nghts reserved 2013) Licence numbers 000394 and
TrO0Z24

An area of lower density development now extends from Allhallows on Sea along
Avery Way to Allhallows village, with a detached cluster of housing along Stoke Road.
Predominately residential, the buildings range from the prefabricated units of a caravan
park to a three-storey block of flats but the majority of the housing stock is comprised
af conventional two-storey houses, semi-detached orin short terraces, and detached
bungalcrws. These date in the main from the mid-to-late 20t century. Several small
housing developments have taken place in the last decade, filling in gap plots on Avery
YWay and Stoke Road and building over the playing fields of the school.

In the histaric core of Allhallows village, a few older buildings remain. The most significant
of these is the parish church of All Saints (grade [), which dates from the 12" to the |5
century, restored in 1886-21 by Bwan Christian (Fig. 12). Immediately to the west is the
former Rose and Crown public house {grade |}, an 18t century building that underwent
a substantial restaration in 2009 (FHg. 13). These are now the best-preserved elements
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of the pre-20" century village. The former post office and Bay Tree farmhouse, Stoke
Foad also survive but have been maodernised, and exhibit little external evidence of their
ariging. Dairy Cottages, Binney Road, are a pair of brick houses dating from the 19105 ar
|920s, now altered and extended.
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figures [0-11 The growth of Athallows: G5 maps from 1968 (left) and 1975 (ghtl © and
database nght Crown copynght and Landmark (nforrmation Group Led (Al nghts reserved
2013} Licence numbers 000394 and TRPOO24

The majority of houses in the village were built by the local authority over successive
decades. These fall broadly into three phases that reflect changing fashions in municipal
pravision. The first to be built was a group of |2 semi-detached houses, Beatty Cottages,
an Stoke Road, dating from the [920s or 19305 {(and built either by Hoo Rural District
Council or Strood Rural District Council depending on their date of construction). They
are rendered buildings of extreme plainness. The next generation of council houses

and bungalows, construction of which seems to have begun in the 1¥30s and may have
continued after the war, were brick built, with a minimal arts and crafts tile detailing (Fig.
I4). These were laid out as small estate on Stoke Road and All Saints Road to the north
and east of the church, following the Garden City principles of the [918 Tudor YWalters
Repart. Around 1970 this area of housing was extended eastwards by a new estate,
whose streets are named after saints. The layout incorporates areas of Radburn-style
planning {such as 5t Andrews WWalk) (Fig. 13), named after an American suburb of the
19205, which proved very influential on local authority planners and architects during the
19605 and 1970s. This places the parking at the rear of the houses and provides grassy
areas with footpaths between the groups of houses, from which the frant doors are
accessed,
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Frgwe 12 frop deft) A Sormtz choeh m 200% (P75 00N EY Rgwee 13 frop fghth The fivrnae
Fierse and Crown poblic fouse ondersams sesderto doreeerson m 200Y (PR 0N ) hgwe
14 [hattarn defty dewor councd fiouszs on Stake Rood m 200% [PA5E00ME) & Fgee 15
[Battarn sighty Postaane condd fowses on 3 Andiews Wiaks m 2009 [BA7SE000 %)

Srcund the holday resort at Allhallows on 5es the boidings are mare vared in
charactar The anbe remnant of the former bamibet & dvery Howme and its autbuildings,
rebuil after a fire had destroyed the entire Farmretead in 1832 (Fig. 161 There ane
garme substantal survieaks from the 19305 residentil seaside develapment. The flats,
Aunery Court, and pubbe house, the British Filot, ane cn o diffenent scake and of 2 highaer
qualty than subsequent developments, redolent af the high hopes of the deselo e for
the fledgling resort. dwery Court & 2 three-storgy blode buoilt of red Brick in & mild neo-
Geargan styke detailed with an arnamantal inamaeork balustade (Fig. 7). Apparanth
built in 1939, & may have been designed by the anchitect Herbet John Jinclur Abrame
whes creneed the freshald ™ The builling was perbaps intended to have graund floor
shops and was apparantl designed frenbrgement, as its nendened st wall of the
block s a temiparany chamcter The szeminghe ittke-atered pub and hotel, probably
built for Charringtons, fawoors a Arcts and Craft diom, with red Brick, render and tikes
and chasly port hobe wand o flanking @ chimngy an the south ekevation (Frigo [3)

The cobde-sac of tan houses, mosth semedetached, on Quesnsway ane suburban in
character, with pebbldash or roughcast render exterons (Fig. [9).

Littke evidence of the former rabeay branch ne remains. At the time of cosure n 1951
the site at Allhallows on bea included station buildings, platfrmes, o poods shed, water
tank, raiks and a torntable. Sinee 1975 most of the has been cleared to provide addition
plots for the resdentml caravan estate, Allhalloes Park. Howesesr, the metal pilke tank has
survivid in this nere rather incongruous setting (Fig. 2007 There isalss 2 brge residential
develaprant, maink houses but including shops weith flats above, at the eastern end of
Aoty Wiy that dates fromthe 19708 and may have bean prvateb built.
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higwe (& ftap fefty Avene Hose and the entionee ta Aloflows Lesore Pork, 200%
[(PAFIZ00RY Fguee 17 [dop agtt) Aveny Court, Afhalloss on Sea PIGI00H )Y Fgwe |8
[battan fefty The Brrteay Biot public bowse, Altalows on bea (PRS00 & Rgoee ¥ [hattorn
figtath (Joeermwny Altolaws on Saen (PI7E50025)

A number af ammuonty buikdings ane depersed around the extended village, A kowee key
willage hall, of concrete postand -pane| comstrocton dating from e 1970, stands back from
Stk Foad to the south west of the parsh chonch, A priracy sechoo ] of 2 similar date
adjoins Awe iy Wy, located moidweay betwaen the villge and Adlballows an 5ea, The was
enkarged by the addition of 2 middke school in 15782

A gimall streteh of resdential rbbon development exsts o the south of the vilbge an
Stk Fioad . This began with the Wicarage, 3 mild b Gothie style Boild ing dating from the
bte 9% century, subsequently comerted into a regsidential home for the elderly called
The Chimingys, and much enlarged in the ktter @t of the 20% century (Fig. 21). To

the north stands Adlhalies Flace, a ‘moderate-smed country resdence’ built between
[9CE and 1914 for the Dapers Company [Fig. 2207 A small number of modest houses,
apportunste develapmrents of small plots of land, kee been boit during the 20th

e tury.
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Figume 20 fop defh A errnart of fhe ey branct v, a oo werdae bark, susmang arrids
the readertil carwans of Alalows Posk, [PI7LE0MAEY hywe 2 ftop fghd) The Chimneys
ressicderation forne, fivrnenl e Yicomge, i 2009 [PA7350025) & Rgune 27 fhottorn gl
Aftataws Blace m 200% [P7330026)

The riverside |eisure park

Allhalloes Lesung Park oo s an extenswe anea of rverode bnd, some 10 acraes
when purchazed by Strood Boral District Counglin 1958 The sastern section

aof Fark contains unform single-storey wooden-clad chakets, et wathin an undivided
grazgy parkbnd, ina byout that aimed at avoding regimeatatbon and provding

varied outkaak® First built in the 19605, these structures are mare characteristic of

the muomicipal peeod of cwenership (Fig, 23], The western partof the Parkoontaim an
o s of state caavans of mare recent comstroction, detaiked in o vanety of stylkes,
many af which have been further personalsed wath decks and enclosed ansas (Fig. 24).
Between the two sections are communal facilities, 2 bte-20%-century kekure centre

and swamming ool and tenns, a5 well 25 2 sales office and shop. Fart of the feermde

& oorued by Allhallows Yacht club, which has a modest 1960s dubhouse and two
sliparays. The frontage of sand and single & a piecemeal creation, bB2gon in the 19205

at Levesr Slough and extanded eastecand by the constrocton of grewnes in the [930%
and 1960 and 1970% fakong with o section of anerete sea walll (Fig. 25177 Seemingly
nathing survives of the inte r-war amuosement parkand minatone raibsay or the postwar
trad bl seasde osk’ Bings hall and amosement ancade but the former restaorant, 2
timbei-cld stroctune with 2 maonoptch roof, sureves, akhough apparenth no onger in
L,
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The kesure parkalso aantains o number of formee military sites. Skbogh Fort, beated o
the narth of trackssay knowen 25 The Brimpewhoch hstoncall hinked Aoy with Slaugh,
& A bwo-sto ey D-shaped structune, buik of Kentish ragstone and brick with grante
dressings [lEted grade 1) s excte rnal earthanoe bk defe nees, wing batteries, well protecting
wrall and probable gun detachment sheler ane a schedoked monuirent (Fig. 28). The
rebatively intact Fort has bad o chaquared hetory since ks clasune in 159202, coneerted 1o
azooin (929 and a riding stables in the 1960 fwhich remaine te present use) 3! To the
north of the park entrance & Coastpuand Cottage. The sing ke-storey white- painted brick
structure nesembbkes neither o typcal ooastguard stabion nora port war signal station -
ts pravious functiong — but the treatment of the tall machios bbed parapet an s west
ekevation has a militany quality™

Fgure 23 [top dgft) Winoden diolets of fhe
{96l Altallows Leswe Padk [PA75002T,
Riguie 24 fhop gt ) St comuvans,
Aftatons Lecwea Pars [PATII00EEY Rguie
23 [battorn beft) Groymes and s2d wal,
Atftalons Lecwe Paks (PASEI0029 &
Fgune 26 [battern righty Stoogh Fove m 200
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ARCHITECTURAL INTEREST AND Sl GNIFICAMNCE

Dlections aof Allhallows villge befiore Warld Yyar | showe 3 lbosely grooped settlemeant,
retaining traditional brickand tie howses and timbee-clad farm boildings, similar in
character to othar Hoo villages such a8 Stoke and Gran, But the vernacolar o ppeamsance
disappearad 2z the villape farmsteads wene heavily modernesed, ar replaced with denser
develapment in the second half of the 20 century. Mare generally across the parih
there has been o consderable amount of peosmeal change, such extensions, naws roofs
and winderer replcement, 1o buildings of all periods. But evidence of the pre20% century
agricuttural aommunity

shill ecests in 2 number

af surening buildings of
architectoral interest, such
as the pansh chunch, the
former pub e house, the

far mhousze at Dagenham
and farmsteads at Awery
and Brick House Farm

[Fig. 20 The imyportance
of some of these shes has
been recognsed through
natinal designation. Cither
buildings, such a5 Daganham
Farmhouse, Awvery House,
Aoty Court, and the Briteh
Filot could be included an a
bzl st

The miltary structures at
Allhalkows on S2a ane 4
tangible remindar of the
multary importane of

the Hioo Peninsula, and
st particulacks s labe-
[Fth_ceentury systerm of
crastal defenoes. Slough
Feart and ity assecmbod
features are ina reltaely
good state of preseration
and hawe Eatures of
interest in ther desgn and
subzequent development,

2 vt necognsed by their
designatian in 2009, The

far mer port sigmling station
and coastpuand station & ako an unusoal sueeral (Fig. 28). Other stroctores oF featones
ey survive, such as the portable miltary boikding on Mess Hall Faem Lane,

Fegure 28 Constguard Cotage [fmneny Savgh Port Seenalime
Statiery [PA7EE 005
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The impact of the industelisation of the Thames and Medway during the [t and 20
canturies s pechaps less evident in Allbaliows than ebewheneg in the pennsul. The has
brgeh been limited o the postwar residental ecpansion and distant views of Grain
Fevrar Staton and container port. Instead ¢ has been the development of keone falties
i the Thames estuary that has had a greater impact (Fig. 29). The resort at Allhalowes

an Sea, wehich fell short of nibial expectations, has nonetheless contributed a number of
interesting buildings and 2 suaesful leisure park

Figuwe 27 Althalloas Leiwe Padk, phetagmated o 2005 (MR T
B47E-16 24-75.54)
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NOTES

' Hasted E 1798 The History and Topographical Survey of the County of Kent volume 4
accessed at www british-history.ac.uk on the 3/12/2009.

? Promotional leaflet, ‘Allhallows on Sea’, 1932.

*Everitt A 1986 Continufte and Colonization The Evolution of Kentish Settlement Leicester
Leicester University Press 183,

* There would appear to be evidence of a Saxon presence in the parish, if not the village, as
it has been suggested that land in the outlying hamlet of Avery was held by a Saxon Abbess
called Heahburh. See Stenton, F M 1970 Medeshamstede and its Colonies’ in Stenton D M
(ed) 1970 Preparatory to Anglo-Saxon England Being the Collected Papers of Frank Merry
Stenton Oxford: OUP. 189-90 cited in http//en.wikipedia.orgiwiki/Allhallows, Kent accessed
30/07/2009.

> The Manor of Windhill was created by Robert Bardoff, who then granted it to the
Convent of Reading in 1204. Hammond, F | 1914 The Hundred of Hoo and the Parish of
Althallows 4.

* It is mentioned by Hasted in 1798 but is not present on the tithe map of [841.
Hammond, 7.

¥ MacDougall, Philip 1980 The Story of the Hoo Peninsuia: john Hallewell. 185,

? Reeves, Anne & Williamson, Tom ‘Marshes' in Thirsk, Joan 2000 Rural Fnglond Oxford:
OUP 153

" For example, farms advertised for sale in Morning Post and Daily Advertiser 5" August

| 775; Daily Advertiser 2™ Sept 1796; Morning Chronicle 20" August 1801, 2™ October,
1820; Times 14" June 1883, 2.

" Adams, W Eric 1957 ‘A Private Enterprise New Town' in Town Planning Review »xooxviii
189.

" Hammond 7.

B Goodsall, Robert H 1955 The Medway and its Tributaries Constable 233.

" See insert map in Evans John H [958 The Rochester Bridge Lands in Grain' in
Archaoeologia Cantiana 68. 184-5.

> Morning Chronicle 20" August 1801; Times 5™ August 1882, 14; 25" June 1892, 21.

'* Hammond 7.

' The Morning Chronicle 22" September [860.

" MacDougall, appendix |.

" See the 1839 tithe map and 1908 Ordnance Survey map.

A wall letter box was present at The Old Post Office, Stoke Road by 1891, See Keflys
Directory of Kent, Surrey & Sussex 1891.

2 Saunders, M 1995 Thames Fortifications during the 16" to 19" Centuries’ in RCHME
Thames Gateway Recording Historic Buildings and Landscapes on the Thames Fstuary London:
RCHME. 126.

2 DCMS, Amendment to the list of buildings of special architectural or historic interest,
Slough Fort.

# |bid.

# DCMS; personal comment Paul Pattison.

* Promotional leaflet ‘Allhallows on Sea’, | 932,

* MacDougall 160.

7 Chatham Standard 10" May 1966.

*®MacDougall 160.
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# promotional leaflet ‘Allhallows on Sea’, 1932,

* Promotional leaflet; MacDougall, 161,

' Handlist of the records of Strood RDC at
httpy//www.nationalarchives.gov.uk/nra/onlinelists/ accessed 22/6/201 |.

2 A manager, Charles De Groote, was appointed. He had previous been employed as
publicity and entertainments officer at Hornsey, Yorkshire. Kent Messenger October 1958,
# httpi//coastalkent.net accessed 30/07/2009.

* Chatham News | 1" April 1974,

® Chatham News | 1" October 1981,

* MacDougall, appendix |; http//enwikipedia.org/fwiki/Allhallows, Kent accessed
30/07/2009.

7 Check with Jon, 10" August 1951. 1.

# Adams, W Eric 1957 ‘A Private Enterprise New Town' in Town Planning Review xxvii 181-
90.

* Adams, 181.

“ bid.

* Unnamed newspaper cutting | 0" August 1951, Medway Archives.

# Ag well as the loss of agricultural land, Kent CC were also concermned that is might
prejudice the expansion of Sheerness and Minster on the Isle of Sheppey. Adams 189,
* Morning Chronicle 6™ October 832,

* Abrams was the frecholder in 1941 when four flats were requisitioned by the War
Department; Abrams was an architect and surveyor, with a large experience of estate
development. Handlist of the records of Strood RDC at

httpy//www .nationalarchives.gov.uk/nra/onlinglists/ accessed 22/6/201 |; RIBS Nomination
Fapers IF no: 2598.

# http//www.subbrit.org.uk/sb-sites/stations/a/allhallows_on_sea/index.shtml accessed
30/07/2009

* The school buildings were presumably designed by Kent County Council architects.
Chatham Rochester & Gillingham News 3™ March 1978,

¥ The Drapers Company also owned Allhallows Farm to the east of the panish church.
Times 9™ April 1938, 24; Hammond 7.

*# Unnamed newspaper cutting, August 1960 held at Medway Archives.

*¥ Handlist of the records of Strood RDC at

http:/ iwww.nationalarchives.gov.uk/nra/onlinelists/ accessed 22/6/201 1,

* Chatham News | 1™ April 1970.

51 Chatham Standard 10™ May 1966; DCMS amendment.

** The date of this building is unclear. It isn't marked on the 1839 Tithe Map. Nor is it
marked on 1895 OS map, but neither is Slough Fort, so it may have been omitted for
security reasons. Other War Signalling Stations are two-storey flat-roofed buildings, as for
example at Harwich, so this building was presumably buitt for, or taken over by, the
Coastguard in 1897 and later adapted as a war signal station.
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ENGLISH HERITAGE RESEARCH AND THE HISTORIC ENVIRONMENT

English Heritage undertakes and commissions research into the historic
environment, and the issues that affect its condition and survival, in order to
provide the understanding necessary for informed policy and decision making, for
the protection and sustainable management of the resource, and to promote the
widest access, appreciation and enjoyment of our heritage. Much of this work is
conceived and implemented in the context of the National Heritage Protection
Plan. For more information on the NHPP please go to httpi/fiwww.english-heritage.
org.uk/professional/protection/national-heritage-protection-plan/.

The Heritage Protection Department provides English Heritage with this capacity
in the fields of building history, archacclogy, archaeclogical science, imaging

and visualisation, landscape history, and remcte sensing. It brings together four
teams with complementary investigative, analytical and technical skills to provide
integrated applied research expertise across the range of the historic environment.
These are:

* Intervention and Analysis (including Archaeology Projects, Archives,
Envirenmental Studies, Archaeclogical Conservation and Technology,
and Scientific Dating)

* Assessment (including Archaeoclogical and Architectural Investigation,
the Blue Plaques Team and the Survey of London)

* Imaging and Visualisation (including Technical Survey, Graphics
and Photography)
* Remote Sensing (including Mapping, Photogrammetry and Geophysics)

The Heritage Protection Department undertakes a wide range of investigative
and analytical projects, and provides quality assurance and management support
for externally-commissioned research. We aim for innovative work of the highest
quality which will set agendas and standards for the historic environment sector:
In support of this, and to build capacity and promote best practice in the sector,
we also publish guidance and provide advice and training. We support community
engagement and build this in to our projects and programmes wherever possible.

We make the results of our work available through the Research Report Senes,
and through jeurnal publications and monographs. Our newsletter Research News,
which appears twice a year; aims to keep our partners within and outside English
Heritage up-to-date with cur projects and activities.

A full list of Research Reports, with abstracts and information on how to obtain
copies, may be found on www.english-heritage org.uk/researchreports
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